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The Department of the Interior, National Park Service (NPS), has prepared the Alexander
Hamilton: Estate Grange and Other Sites Special Resource Study / Boundary Study to evaluate the
potential of four sites associated with Alexander Hamilton’s childhood and adolescence on St.
Croix, U.S. Virgin Islands to be included within the national park system. As directed by Congress,
this document includes a special resource study that evaluates four sites for their inclusion in the
national park system as new, independent units.

The boundary study portion of this document evaluates the potential of one of the sites, Estate
Grange, as an addition to an existing unit of the national park system (Christiansted National
Historic Site). The other three sites were not analyzed in the boundary study because they
either did not possess extant resources or the resource type and associated interpretive theme

is currently sufficiently represented at Christiansted National Historic Site. The boundary study
evaluated several factors to determine the feasibility of adding the area to Christiansted National
Historic Site, whether other options for management were available, and how the area would
enhance visitor enjoyment of Christiansted National Historic Site related to park purposes.



SUMMARY

INTRODUCTION

The Department of the Interior, National
Park Service (National Park Service), has
prepared this special resource study /
boundary study to evaluate the potential

of four sites associated with Alexander
Hamilton’s childhood and adolescence on
St. Croix, U.S. Virgin Islands to be included
within the national park system. As directed
by Congress, this document includes a special
resource study that evaluates four sites for
their inclusion in the national park system as
new, independent units. The boundary study
analyzes one of the sites, Estate Grange, as
an addition to an existing unit of the national
park system (Christiansted National Historic
Site).

LEGISLATIVE HISTORY

In 2009, Congress directed the Secretary

of the Interior (Secretary), in consultation
with the governor of the Virgin Islands, to
evaluate the potential to establish a unit

of the national park system that would
commemorate Alexander Hamilton’s time on
St. Croix, U.S. Virgin Islands. Section 7203 of
the Omnibus Public Land Management Act
of 2009 (Public Law 111-11, signed March
30,2009) directs the Secretary to evaluate
“Estate Grange and other sites and resources
associated with Hamilton on St. Croix.” The
legislation specified that this special resource
study, containing the study findings and the
Secretary’s recommendations, be submitted
to Congress within three years of the study
funding.

SPECIAL RESOURCE STUDY AND
SUMMARY OF FINDINGS

The special resource study addresses four
properties, including Estate Grange. National
Park Service Management Policies 2006,
Section 1.3.1 directs that proposed additions
to the national park system must possess
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significance at the national level. For cultural
resources, national significance is evaluated
by applying the National Historic Landmarks
(NHL) nomination criteria contained in 36
CFR Part 65. None of the four properties
analyzed was determined to possess national
significance, and therefore none is eligible for
inclusion in the national park system as a new,
stand-alone unit.

Estate Grange. Located approximately 1.5
miles from Christiansted, this former sugar
plantation changed hands several times, but
was owned by Alexander Hamilton’s uncle
from 1738 to 1764. Alexander Hamilton’s
mother was married at Estate Grange and

is believed to be buried there. Evidence
indicates that Alexander Hamilton never
lived at Estate Grange. The property features
several historic structures, including a main
house and slave quarter ruins, and cultural
landscape features.

Lot 34 Company Street. A building once
stood in this now vacant lot in downtown
Christiansted that was the home of Alexander
Hamilton, his mother, and his brother for
nearly two years. Alexander Hamilton’s
mother ran a store on the ground floor and
the family lived upstairs.

Lot 23 Company Street. Alexander Hamilton
and his family rented a residence at this
location from late-1767 until just before

New Year’s Day 1768. The building that the
family lived in was later removed and the lot

is presently a landscaped garden. Very little is
known about the ownership of the property
and no information was identified regarding
the construction or style of the former
residence and outbuildings.

Lots 7-8 King Street. The Beekman and
Cruger store and warehouse complex where
Alexander Hamilton worked was located on
Lots 7-8 King Street. The extant structure has
undergone several episodes of remodeling
and its history is uncertain.



Conclusion. The four sites were individually
evaluated and not found to possess national
significance. Therefore, none of the sites
qualifies as a new independent unit of the
national park system.

BOUNDARY STUDY AND SUMMARY OF
FINDINGS

Preparation of the special resource study

led to a decision to analyze the potential for
including Estate Grange within the national
park system through an addition to the
boundary of an existing national park unit,
Christiansted National Historic Site (CHRI).
Therefore, this document also includes a
boundary study. Boundary studies can be
initiated without an act of Congress, although
actual changes to park boundaries do require
congressional approval.

National Park Service Management Policies
2006, Section 3.5 directs that boundary
adjustments to existing units of the national
park system meet at least one of the following
criteria:

« Protect significant resources and values,
or enhance opportunities for public
enjoyment related to unit purposes.

+ Address operational and management
issues, such as the need for access or the
need for boundaries to correspond to
logical boundary delineations such as
topographic or other natural features or
roads.

+ Otherwise protect unit resources that are
critical to fulfilling the unit’s purposes.

Additionally, all recommendations for
additions must meet all of the following
criteria:

» The added lands will be feasible to
administer, considering their size,
configuration, and ownership; costs; the
views and impacts on local communities
and surrounding jurisdictions; and other
factors such as the presence of hazardous
substances or exotic species.

« Other alternatives for management and
resource protection are not adequate.
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Summary

Estate Grange was considered as an addition
to Christiansted National Historic Site based
on its potential to enhance opportunities for
public enjoyment related to park purposes.
The purpose and significance of Christiansted
National Historic Site is to preserve the
nationally significant historic structures and
grounds in the Christiansted waterfront/
wharf area and to interpret the economy and
way of life during the Danish colonial era.

Estate Grange is geographically separated
from the Christiansted waterfront/wharf area
and CHRI resources. Furthermore, although
Estate Grange would provide an opportunity
to interpret the economy and way of life

of a historic Danish sugar cane plantation,
the property has not been identified as an
outstanding example of this resource type.
Therefore, the Estate Grange property

is not strongly connected to the purpose

and significance of Christiansted National
Historic Site and the potential for public
enjoyment related to park purposes is limited.

The National Park Service also found

the proposal to add Estate Grange to
Christiansted National Historic Site infeasible
for several reasons. Factors that would hinder
potential NPS management of the property
include the following.

* Access — although connected to a major
road, the property is about 1.5 miles from
Christiansted. A proposed highway across
the southern portion of the estate property
would present access and resource
management issues.

+ Current and potential uses of the study
area — tenant occupation of the site
and lease agreements present potential
encumbrances to NPS acquisition.

+ Costs — the substantial costs for property
acquisition, research, preservation
treatments, and site development could
exceed NPS funding feasibility during this
period of fiscal constraint.

Conclusion. The Estate Grange study area
does not meet the criteria to be included as an
addition to Christiansted National Historic

Site.



A GUIDE TO THIS DOCUMENT

This special resource study / boundary study
is organized into the following chapters. Each
chapter is briefly described below.

Chapter 1: Purpose and Background
provides a brief description of the study
area and an overview of the study’s purpose,
background, and process. This chapter also
summarizes the NPS findings on the special
resource study and the boundary study.

Chapter 2: Historical Background and
Resource Description provides an overview
of Alexander Hamilton’s childhood and
adolescence on St. Croix and includes
historical background related to sugar cane
agriculture on St. Croix. The chapter also
describes the four sites evaluated in the
special resource study.

Chapter 3: Evaluation of the Four Sites as
New, Independent Units of the National
Park System describes the evaluation criteria
and findings for the four study sites. This
chapter provides the analysis and evaluation
required in a special resource study.
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Chapter 4: Evaluation of Estate Grange

as an Addition to Christiansted National
Historic Site evaluates the potential of adding
Estate Grange to an existing unit of the
national park system. This chapter provides
the analysis and evaluation required in a
boundary study.

Chapter 5: Public Involvement,
Consultation, and Coordination describes
the history of public and agency coordination
during the planning effort and any future
compliance requirements. It also lists agencies
and organizations that will receive copies of

the document and a list of preparers.
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CHAPTER 1: PURPOSE AND BACKGROUND

PURPOSE OF THIS SPECIAL RESOURCE
STUDY / BOUNDARY STUDY

New lands are typically added to the national
park system by an act of Congress. However,
before Congress decides to create a new
national park system unit, it needs to know
whether the area’s resources meet established
criteria for designation. The National Park
Service (NPS) is often tasked with evaluating
potential new areas for compliance with these
criteria and documenting its findings in a
special resource study.

In 2009, Congress directed the Secretary of the
Interior (Secretary), in consultation with the
governor of the Virgin Islands, to evaluate the
potential to establish a unit of the national park
system that would commemorate Alexander
Hamilton’s time on St. Croix, U.S. Virgin
Islands. Section 7203 of the Omnibus Public
Land Management Act of 2009 (Public Law
111-11, signed March 30, 2009) directs the
Secretary to evaluate “Estate Grange and other
sites and resources associated with Hamilton
on St. Croix.” The legislation specified that this
special resource study, containing the study
findings and the Secretary’s recommendations,
be submitted to Congress within three years of
the study funding.

This document contains both a special
resource study and a boundary study. The
special resource study evaluates four sites as
potential new additions to the national park
system. The boundary study evaluates only
the Estate Grange property as a potential new
addition to an existing national park system
unit, Christiansted National Historic Site.

The purpose of the special resource study

is to provide Congress with information
about the quality and condition of the Estate
Grange property and three other sites and
their relationship to criteria for parklands.
This report summarizes the NPS findings

and, in combination with additional analysis,
provides a comprehensive assessment of these
four properties as potential additions to the
national park system.

In contrast to special resource studies,
boundary studies may be initiated without
an act of Congress, although actual changes
to park boundaries do require congressional
approval. During development of the
special resource study, the National Park
Service decided to also analyze the potential
of including Estate Grange within the
national park system through an addition

to the boundary of an existing park unit,
Christiansted National Historic Site.

Estate Grange was analyzed in the boundary
study in an effort to analyze preservation
options for resources at this site and to
evaluate the opportunities for public
enjoyment related to the purpose and
significance of Christiansted National
Historic Site. The resources at Estate Grange
which illustrate the colony’s economy,
including the production and refinement of
sugar cane and its products, can be broadly
linked to the purpose and significance of
Christiansted National Historic Site.

ORGANIZATION OF DOCUMENT

This document encompasses both a special
resource study and a boundary study. The
document presents information on historic
context and existing conditions in “Chapter
2: Historical Background and Resource
Description.” “Chapter 3: Evaluation of

the Four Sites as New, Independent Units
of the National Park System” addresses

the evaluation criteria specific to the

special resource study, in particular the
topic of national significance. “Chapter 4:
Evaluation of Estate Grange as an Addition
to Christiansted National Historic Site”
addresses the evaluation criteria specific

to a boundary study and the topic of
“feasibility,” which is common to both types
of studies. “Chapter 5: Public Involvement,
Consultation, and Coordination” describes
public and agency involvement in the study
process.



Map 1. Study Area Locations




INTRODUCTION TO THE STUDY AREAS
Estate Grange

Estate Grange is located in an area of rolling
hills approximately 1.5 miles inland from the
town of Christiansted, St. Croix, U.S. Virgin
Islands (see Map 1). At the time research

and analysis were conducted for this study,
the Estate Grange included approximately
118 acres under the ownership of the M.K.
Armstrong Trust. 'The site is studied in the
“Special Resource Study” section of this
document because of its connection to
Alexander Hamilton’s family. The site is also
studied in the “Boundary Study” section of
this document for its contribution to and
consistency with the purpose of Christiansted
National Historic Site. The purpose of the
Christiansted National Historic Site is to
protect and interpret the economy and way
of life that existed in the Virgin Islands under
Danish sovereignty between 1733 and 1917.

Figure 1. Estate Grange main house

Estate Grange is one of the earliest sugar
plantations established on St. Croix. Most
(about 79%) of the original acreage and
many of the structures associated with the
historic sugar plantation remain today. Estate
Grange was owned by Alexander Hamilton’s
uncle from 1738-1764. Alexander Hamilton’s
mother, Rachel Faucett, was married at Estate
Grange in 1745 and is believed to be buried

! Note: In 2012, after analysis for this study was completed,
the Trust sold a substantial portion of the property but
retained 26 acres that include the main house and other
buildings in the core of the historic estate. Throughout this
document, the property is discussed as being 118 acres,
reflecting the size of the study area.

Chapter 1: Purpose and Background

there. No evidence exists to indicate that
Alexander Hamilton ever resided at Estate
Grange.

Lot 34 Company Street

This lot in downtown Christiansted is the
location of a former residential building
where Alexander Hamilton, his mother,

and his brother lived for nearly two years.
His mother ran a store on the ground floor,
selling foods and other items to plantations.
Rachel and her two sons lived upstairs
(Larson 1952). In 1767, the family temporarily
moved down the road to 23 Company Street,
possibly because a hurricane had damaged
their property. They returned to 34 Company
Street in early January, 1768, where they
remained until Rachel’s death from yellow
fever on February 19, 1768 (Chernow 2004).

Figure 2. Lot 34 Company Street as seen
from the street

Little else is known about the property until
1847, when the lot was owned by M. de
Francis, who sold it to the St. John’s Episcopal
(Anglican) Church (engelske kirke). The
church has owned the lot ever since. Today
the lot sits empty and abandoned behind a tall
brick wall (Figure 2).

Lot 23 Company Street

Alexander Hamilton and his family rented a
residence at this location from Captain William
Egan for a short period (late 1767 until just
before New Year’s Day 1768). Very little is
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known about the property’s ownership. The
building in which the family lived is no longer
standing. There is no available information
regarding the construction or style of the
former building or of its outbuildings. Today
Lot 23 is a landscaped garden (Figure 3).

Figure 3. Lot 23 Company Street

Lots 7-8 King Street

The Beekman and Cruger store and
warehouse complex where Hamilton worked
was located on Lots 7-8 King Street. The
property has changed hands many times. The
structure(s) have undergone several episodes
of remodeling and the history of the extant
structure is uncertain (Figure 4).

Figure 4. Lots 7-8 King Street
STUDY METHODOLOGY / PROCESS

By law (Public Law 91-383 Section 8 as
amended by 303 of the National Parks
Omnibus Management Act [Public Law 105-
391]) and NPS policy, potential new units of
the national park system must

* possess nationally significant resources,

* be a suitable addition to the national park
system,

* be a feasible addition to the national park
system, and

« require direct NPS management or
administration instead of alternative
protection by other agencies or the private
sector.

The criteria for boundary adjustments (NPS
Management Policies 2006) requires the
National Park Service to first demonstrate
that the area protects significant resources
and values or enhances opportunities for
public enjoyment related to park purposes.
Of the four sites, Estate Grange was the

only property with the potential to enhance
opportunities for public enjoyment of
Christiansted National Historic Site related
to park purposes. Thus, the boundary study
portion of this document only evaluates
Estate Grange. Additional criteria for
additions to existing NPS units state that the
area must be

« feasible to manage and that

« other alternatives for management and
resource protection are not adequate.

The following methodology was used to
determine if Estate Grange and other study
areas satisfy the special resource study or
boundary study requirements.

1. Assess public opinion and ideas about
managing the site. During a process called
“scoping,” information was obtained about
the broad range of potential ideas, goals, and
objectives that future visitors, unit neighbors,
local and state government agencies, regional
residents, and the general public would like
to see achieved at Estate Grange. Information
and ideas for the other candidate sites (Lot
34 Company Street, Lot 23 Company Street,
and Lots 7-8 King Street) were also collected
during the scoping process. Scoping
occurred continuously throughout the
planning process. A summary of stakeholder
ideas and concerns is presented in chapter 5.

2. Evaluate national significance and
suitability of primary site features. To
be eligible for designation as a new unit



of the national park system, areas must be
nationally significant, a suitable addition

to the national park system, and feasible to
manage and operate. For cultural resources,
national significance is evaluated by applying
the National Historic Landmarks (NHL)

nomination criteria contained in 36 CFR Part

65. Chapter 3 presents a complete discussion
of national significance.

Because none of the four sites was found
to possess national significance and thus
do not qualify as new independent units
of the national park system, discussions of
suitability and feasibility were not required
for the special resource study portion of
the document.

3. Evaluate feasibility and suitability of
changing the boundary of Christiansted
National Historic Site to include Estate
Grange in the boundary study. The
boundary study discusses the significance
of Estate Grange to determine how it fits
into the thematic context of Christiansted
National Historic Site. The boundary study
also evaluates Estate Grange according to
the criteria published in NPS Management
Policies 2006 (section 3.5.1), which states the
property must “protect significant resources
and values, or ... enhance opportunities for
public enjoyment related to park purposes”
to be considered for inclusion within the
unit boundary.

A discussion of the feasibility and suitability of

including Estate Grange within the boundary
of Christiansted National Historic Site is
presented in chapter 4.

4. Evaluate the need for direct National
Park Service management. If the resources
meet the criteria for inclusion within
Christiansted National Historic Site, the
boundary study process continues with an
analysis to assist in determining the need

for direct NPS management instead of
alternative protection by another group. To be
considered, an area must meet the standard
that “[o]ther alternatives for management
and resource protection are not adequate.”
A discussion of the need for direct NPS
management is presented in chapter 4.

Chapter 1: Purpose and Background

5. Transmit Study Report to Congress. The
study report and summary findings will be
transmitted by the National Park Service to the
Department of the Interior. The Department
of the Interior will transmit the study and a
recommendation to Congress.

STUDY LIMITATIONS

Special resource studies and boundary studies
serve as reference sources for members of
Congress, the National Park Service, and other
persons interested in the potential designation
of an area as a new unit of the national park
system. The reader should be aware that the
analysis and findings contained in this report
do not guarantee future funding, support,

or any subsequent action by Congress, the
Department of the Interior, or the National
Park Service.

Figure 5. Christiansted National Historic Site
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CHAPTER 2: HISTORICAL BACKGROUND AND RESOURCE
DESCRIPTION

INTRODUCTION

This chapter is divided into two parts:
“Historical Background” and “Resource
Description.” Both sections contain
information that is relevant to the evaluation
of candidate sites contained in chapters 3 and
4 of this study.

Congress directed the National Park Service
to investigate sites associated with Alexander
Hamilton’s boyhood and adolescence

on St. Croix. Therefore, the “Historical
Background” includes a summary of
Hamilton’s life on the island. It also contains a
discussion of the importance of sugar cane to
St. Croix’s economy during the 18th and 19th
centuries, which is relevant to the discussion
of Estate Grange.

The second section, “Resource Description,”
addresses all four candidate sites. It contains
brief histories of the properties and
descriptive information about their primary
resources, including historic architecture,
cultural landscape, and archeology.

HISTORICAL BACKGROUND

Alexander Hamilton’s Childhood and
Adolescence on St. Croix

Note: if not cited specifically, the information
presented in the following section has been
gathered and synthesized from the following
sources: Brookhiser 2000; Chernow 2004,
Cissel 2004, 2007; Flexner 1978; and
Larson 1952.

Piecing together the elements of Alexander
Hamilton’s life on St. Croix proves
challenging. Historians and biographers have
distilled facts from a combination of historic
records including population rolls, legal
documents, and letters and poems Hamilton
wrote as a youth. Nevertheless, there is a lack
of agreement about certain aspects of his life,
including the year of his birth.

11

Later in life Alexander Hamilton claimed he
was born in 1757. However, records strongly
suggest he was born in 1755. Currently,
most researchers use 1755, though some still
contend 1757 may be accurate (Larson 1952;
Hacker 1957).

Rachel Faucett’s Marriage to Johan Lavien.
Alexander Hamilton’s connection to St.
Croix begins 10 years before his birth when
his mother, Rachel Faucett, married Johan
Michael Lavien. Born on Nevis in 1729,
Rachel was 16 on her wedding day. She and
her mother arrived in St. Croix to visit her
sister, Ann, and Ann’s husband, James Lytton,
at their home, Lot 9 Company Quarter,
located about 1.5 miles outside Christiansted.
James Lytton had purchased the property in
1738, four years after the Danish colony of

St. Croix was founded. Since at least 1769 the
property has been called “Grange” (referred
to as “Estate Grange” in this study). There is
no evidence the residence was known as such
at the time of Rachel’s wedding.

Rachel’s husband, 12 to 22 years her senior,
had been a merchant on Nevis who came to
St. Croix to better his fortune. Presumably,
the couple lived at Lavien’s estate at Lot 12b
Company Quarter, a cotton plantation Lavien
had purchased prior to the marriage. This
period of busy development on St. Croix saw
settlers clearing St. Croix’s forests to create
cultivable lands, which were subdivided into
estates each measuring 150 Danish acres?
(Boyer 1983, Haagensen 1758, Hopkins 1987).

In 1746, Rachel gave birth to the couple’s
only son, Peter Lavien. By 1750, for reasons
that we can only speculate, Rachel left her
family. With hopes of teaching her a lesson
and forcing her to return home, Lavien
had her imprisoned for several months at
Fort Christiansvaern, Christiansted. This
imprisonment, however, had the opposite
effect. Upon her release, Rachel left for St.
Kitts in the fall of 1750 with her mother.

21 Danish foot equals 1.297 English feet, or 0.318 meters;
40,000 square Danish feet to the acre



SpECIAL RESOURCE STUDY / BOUNDARY STUDY

ing

ett

mes

Royal

s St.

Early Life on Nevis. Sometime in the early
1750s, Rachel met James Hamilton, the
fourth son of a Scottish laird. Hamilton had
journeyed to the Caribbean to make his way
in the world and was employed by Archibald
Ingram in Basseterre, St. Kitts. The couple
settled on the island of Nevis where they had
two sons, James (b. 1753) and Alexander,
believed to have been born on January 11,
1755 (Cissel 2004). It appears the family
lived together on Nevis for several years. It

is unclear whether James was aware that the
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mother of his children was still married to
Lavien or whether she and James were posing
as a married couple.

Contemporary Events on St. Croix. Back
on St. Croix, Johan Michael Lavien filed
for divorce in 1759, accusing Rachel of
“mistakes. ..indecent and very suspect,” as
well as desertion and adultery, accusations
that had not surfaced nine years earlier when
he had her imprisoned. The divorce was
granted on June 25 and Rachel was found
guilty and was not permitted to remarry.
Rachel may not have known about these
proceedings for nearly six years due to her
habitation on Nevis.

By December, 1764, James and Ann Lytton
sold Lot 9 Company Quarter (i.e., the Estate
Grange property) to Nicholas Tuite, leaving
St. Croix for St. Kitts in 1765. Ann died the
following year and James Lytton returned to
St. Croix.

Arrival in St. Croix. There has been some
debate about when Alexander Hamilton set
foot on St. Croix and this controversy bears
upon this study’s evaluation of Estate Grange.
In his 1957 biography, Alexander Hamilton in
the American Tradition, Louis Hacker records
that the family crossed to St. Croix, “when
Alexander was seven” — i.e., in 1762 (Hacker
1957). Historical records, however, establish
with some certainty that the correct year

was 1765. In 1952 Harold Larson published
an article titled, “Alexander Hamilton: The
Fact and Fiction of His Early Years,” which
relies heavily on research conducted by
Major General H.U. Ramsing in the Danish
West Indian records in Copenhagen — a
source that was not available to many other
chroniclers. Larson records that James
Hamilton, Rachel, and their two boys moved
to St. Croix “in the summer of 1765” when
James was sent there to collect a debt owed
to his employer, Archibald Ingram (Larson
1952). By that date, Hamilton’s relative, James
Lytton, had already sold the Estate Grange
property (Larson 1952).

By July, 1765, James and Rachel had separated
for reasons unknown. In January, 1766,
James returned to Nevis, leaving behind



his common-law wife and children. James
Hamilton never saw them again, spending
the rest of his years living on Tobago, Bequia
(Grenadines), and St. Vincent. He and
Alexander maintained limited contact until
James’ death in 1799.

In August, 1765, Rachel and her brother-in-
law James Lytton were in contact, when he

purchased six walnut chairs with leather seats.

Rachel is listed in the Matriklers from 1765
to 1768 with the last name Faucett, Lawine,
and Lewin (alternate spellings of Lavien).
Around this time Rachel began to rent Lot 34
Company Street, located around the corner
from Christiansted’s Sunday slave market.
On the ground floor of the building Rachel
ran a store that sold plantation foodstuffs
and she and the boys lived in the upper story.
Rachel purchased her supplies from her
landlord Thomas Dipnall, and two merchants
from prominent New York families, David
Beekman and Nicholas Cruger. The two
merchants had recently established a trading
firm that imported almost everything
necessary to operate a plantation such as
cattle, mules, foodstuffs, flour, bread, wood,
hoops, shingles, bricks, and slaves. In turn,
the firm exported sugar, molasses, rum,
hardwoods, dye woods, and cotton.

Employment by Beekman and Cruger. In
1766, 11-year-old Alexander began working
as a clerk for the firm, Beekman and Cruger,
at their business and warehouse located at
Lots 7-8 King Street. Additional warehouses
for the firm were located at Lots 23 and 26
Kings Cross Street. Later in Hamilton’s life
(as recollected by his son John), he described
his apprenticeship at this firm as “the most
useful part of his education” (Chernow 2004).
During this time, Hamilton was introduced

to the world of international trade. In 1769,
David Beekman left the firm and was replaced
by Cornelius Kortright.

During this period Christiansted was
developing into a bustling international port
and the island was entering its “Golden Age”
of sugar agriculture. The free trade status of
the Danish West Indies meant traders from
the British colonies in North America could
conduct commerce with merchants and
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traders from French West Indian colonies.

As a clerk, Hamilton would have visited the
wharf houses, weighing houses, the Customs
House, and the warehouses of the Danish
West India Company to check his shipments.
Today these buildings compose Christiansted
National Historic Site.

By living on St. Croix, Hamilton would have
been exposed to the harsh realities of slavery.
His clerkship surely provided Hamilton a
close look at the slave trade, as his employer
was involved in the shipment and sale of
human cargo. On January 25, 1771, during
Hamilton’s tenure, the firm ran a notice in the
Royal Danish American Gazette advertising,
“Just imported from the Windward Coast of
Africa, to be sold on Monday next, by Messrs.
Kortright & Cruger, At said Cruger’s yard,
Three Hundred Prime SLAVES” (Chernow
2004). Hamilton’s responsibilities likely
included inspecting slaves and having them
groomed, fed, and priced for market. During
this time Hamilton would have observed
slaves being treated cruelly, including being
branded by their new owners. In addition, he
probably witnessed the deplorable conditions
aboard slave cargo ships.

Life as an Orphan. Late in 1767, Rachel
moved her family to Lot 23 Company Street,
only to return to 34 Company Street just
before the end of the year. In February, 1768,
Rachel and Alexander were struck with an
illness, most likely yellow fever. Though
Alexander began to recuperate, Rachel’s
condition worsened, and on February 19
she died. She was buried the next day at the
Lytton family cemetery, Lot 9 Company
Quarter (i.e., Estate Grange). Included in
Rachel’s probate inventory were the six
chairs purchased for her by James Lytton,
several silver spoons, clothing, a bed with

a feather comforter, porcelain plates, two
metal candleholders, several slaves, and 34
books among other items. In 1901, Gertrude
Atherton, while researching a book on
Hamilton, erected a memorial to Rachel on
the Grange property (Figure 6). (The marker,
however, does not indicate the true location
of Rachel’s grave.)
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Figure 6. Monument to Rachel Faucett Lavien

Rachel’s former husband, Johan Lavien, had
not had his final word. He laid claim to her
estate, asserting that James and Alexander
were illegitimate and Peter Lavien (Johan
and Rachel’s son) was her rightful heir. James
Lytton and his son Peter Lytton represented
the Hamilton boys in court. However, the
court agreed with Lavien’s claim and, in
November, 1769, Peter Lavien traveled to

St. Croix from his home in South Carolina
to claim his inheritance. Rachel’s personal
effects were auctioned and Peter Lytton
purchased her 34 books.

While Rachel’s estate was being disputed,
Peter Lytton became guardian of the
Hamilton boys; however, on July 16, 1769,
Lytton was found dead in a pool of blood,
apparently having committed suicide. His
will did not provide for James and Alexander,
only for his mistress and their son. The boys
went to live with their uncle, James Lytton,
yet when James died only a month later (on
August 12) he left the boys without

a guardian.

The Hamilton brothers were then separated.
James was apprenticed to a carpenter, Thomas
MacNobeny and possibly went to live with
him. Alexander continued to work for
Beekman and Cruger, and lived in the home
of Thomas Stevens and his family. Alexander
befriended Stevens’ son Edward, or Ned,
who was one year older than Hamilton. Some
biographers have speculated that Thomas
Stevens was actually Alexander Hamilton’s
father (Chernow 2004; Flexner 1978). Others
dismiss the notion as rumor — one of several
concerning Alexander Hamilton’s early life.
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Early Literary Pursuits. Alexander began
to write poetry during this period, and
found an outlet for his verse in the newly
established Royal Danish American Gazette.
The newspaper published his poetry which
he signed “a youth of about 17.. .A.H.”
Additionally, Hamilton wrote letters

telling of his desires to leave St. Croix and
grand aspirations for success. In one such
correspondence to Ned Stevens, dated
November 11, 1769, while Stevens was
attending King’s College in New York, young
Alexander confesses

...my weakness, Ned, my ambition is [so]
prevalent that I contemn the groveling and
condition of a clerk or the like, to which my
fortune, etc., condemns me, and would willingly
risk my life, though not my character, to exalt
my station (Chernow 2004).

In 1771, Hamilton turned 16 and was
obligated to serve in the militia, participating
in monthly drills. At this time he would have
been present at slave executions at Fort
Christiansvaern and assisted in keeping the
peace and preventing riots. From 1771 to
1772, he was left to “mind the store” for five
months while Nicholas Cruger was required
to return to New York due to ill health. Some
historians have interpreted this as evidence of
the trust his employer placed in Hamilton and
of the youth’s exceptional job performance.
Others have explained that Hamilton likely
operated under the guidance of Cornelius
Kortright during Cruger’s absence

(Larson 1952).

While on St. Croix, Hamilton met the
Reverend Hugh Knox, a Presbyterian minister
who arrived from Saba in 1771 and became
pastor to a small church. Reverend Knox
occasionally served as an editor for the
Gazette, and saw intelligence and ambition in
the adolescent Hamilton.

On August 31, 1772, a severe hurricane
struck St. Croix and Alexander wrote his
observations in an eloquent letter to his
father, James Hamilton, where he provided
details of the storm’s wrath. He showed the
letter to Reverend Knox, who encouraged
him to have it published anonymously in the



Gazette. Published on October 3, 1772, this
letter is said to have generated quite a positive
reaction in the community. Reverend Knox
began an effort to raise the funds necessary
to get the foundering Hamilton off the island
so he could obtain the education he so
desperately desired. Although it is not known
exactly who his sponsors or donors were, it

is possible that his employers and possibly
Thomas Stevens were responsible for funding
Hamilton’s journey to New York. According
to Larson, Cruger was the primary sponsor
(Larson 1952).

Based on current evidence, it is believed that
Hamilton did not leave for his new life in
New York immediately. Instead he published
several poems in the Gazette, which appeared
from October, 1772 through February, 1773.
During this period he also served as power

of attorney for his cousin Ann Lytton Venton
who, in 1770, returned to St. Croix from New
York after the deaths of her brother Peter and
father James Lytton. Ann left her husband on
St. Croix and returned to New York with her
daughter in 1773, leaving Alexander to collect
her inheritance payments from her father’s
estate on May 3, May 26, and June 3, 1773.

Departure for New York. Hamilton left St.
Croix sometime after June 3, 1773, never to
return. Reverend Knox wrote many letters of
introduction that assisted with his entrance
to the Elizabethtown Academy, a preparatory
school for boys in New Jersey. Cornelius
Kortright’s family firm in New York handled
his financial affairs.

Formative Experiences on St. Croix. Several
biographers and local historians assert that
Alexander Hamilton spent his formative
years on St. Croix and that his experiences
on the island helped mold his beliefs and
frame his future. Undoubtedly, there is much
truth to this notion. But Hamilton left St.
Croix when he was an adolescent and never
returned. Later in life he spoke little about
his childhood, leaving historians little direct
evidence with which to substantiate

these claims.
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It is safe to conclude that working in his
mother’s shop and later for the import-export
firm Beekman and Cruger provided Hamilton
with knowledge related to business, finances,
and trade on which he would draw later in
life — for instance, as the first secretary of

the United States Treasury. While a young
clerk, Alexander complained about his

lowly status; yet later in life he reflected on
the experience more favorably. In The Life

of Alexander Hamilton, John C. Hamilton,
Alexander’s son, recorded that his father
called his tenure with Beekman and Cruger
“the most useful part of his education”
(Chernow 2004). Biographer Ron Chernow
describes this apprenticeship as “an excellent
training ground for Hamilton,” pointing

out that the young clerk would have had to
“monitor a bewildering array of goods. ..
learned to write in a beautiful, clear, flowing
hand...chart courses for ships, keep track of
freight, and compute prices in an exotic blend
of currencies, including Portuguese, British,
Spanish, Danish, and Dutch” (Chernow
2004). Chernow deduces that Hamilton
absorbed these and other lessons that his
position offered.

He developed an intimate knowledge of
traders and smugglers that later aided his
establishment of the U.S. Coast Guard and
Customs Service. He saw that business

was often obstructed by scarce cash or
credit and learned the value of a uniform
currency in stimulating trade. Finally, he
was forced to ponder the paradox that the
West Indian islands, with all their fertile soil,
traded at a disadvantage with the rest of
the world because of their reliance on only
the sugar crop — a conundrum to which he
was to return in his celebrated Report on
Manufactures. It may be that Hamilton’s
preference for a diversified economy of
manufacture and agriculture originated

in his youthful reflections on the avoidable
poverty he had witnessed in the Caribbean
(Chernow 2004).

Researchers have also concluded that
Hamilton’s strong antislavery stance was
shaped by what he witnessed on St. Croix.
The Danish had a reputation for very harsh
treatment of slaves and enforced control
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severely (Hoffman 2006). Local historian
William Cissel writes that, “Among the
Founding Fathers, Hamilton viewed slavery
from a unique socioeconomic (orphaned
and relatively impoverished) and geographic
(West Indian) perspective” (Cissel 2004).

As an adult, Hamilton opposed slavery on
moral and legal grounds, serving as secretary
of the New York Society for Promoting the
Manumission of Slaves (also known as the
New York Manumission Society). Hamilton
served in this capacity even though — like
many men of his time — he purchased and
owned house slaves.

Others interpret Hamilton’s ambition and
drive as a product of deep-seeded feelings

of shame stemming from his illegitimate
birth and humble position on St. Croix.
Intriguing as these claims may be, they must
be scrutinized. Research undertaken for

this study has yielded little firm supporting
evidence. Beyond the oft-cited remark about
his apprenticeship with Beekman and Cruger
being the “most useful part of his education,”
it appears that Hamilton offered few
quotations to directly link his experiences as a
youth with his accomplishments as an adult.

The Importance of Sugar Cane
Agriculture on St. Croix

The production of sugar cane and the
manufacture of its products, sugar and

rum, has a long history on St. Croix. These
activities reached their height during the late
18th and early 19th centuries, when they were
the dominant economic activities on

the island.

Sugar was brought to the Caribbean by
Columbus during his second voyage. It is
possible that sugar arrived on St. Croix as
early as the 1620s or 1630s, having been
brought by the first European settlers. During
this period, Dutch, French, and English
colonists all attempted to settle the island.
The Dutch are credited with bringing sugar
to the Lesser Antilles, of which St. Croix is
part, in the 1630s and 1640s. During the 1650s
the French introduced otaheight sugar from
Madagascar to the island chain; it became the
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primary sugar grown and cultivated on St.
Croix (Lewisohn 1963).

Historic maps dating to the 1660s and 1670s
depict an English sugar works (sucre de
Anglois) on the south side of the island,
evidence that sugar was then present.

In 1733 Denmark purchased St. Croix from
the French Crown, and the Danish West India
and Guinea Company governed the island

for the next 19 years. During this period,
settlement of St. Croix proceeded quickly.
The island’s forests, previously burned by
French colonists, were cleared to create
cultivable lands (Haagensen 1758).
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These lands were then subdivided to

provide equally sized and valued properties
to investors (Hopkins 1987). Known as
matriculens, each estate measured roughly
2,000 feet (east-northeast to west-southwest)
by 3,000 feet (north-northwest to south-
southeast), for a total of 150 Danish acres
(Boyer 1983). By 1740, there were 122 sugar
estates, 113 cotton estates, and 10 other small
lots on the island (Hopkins 1987). Because
so much of the cultivable land was devoted
to either sugar cane or cotton, most other
provisions such as breadstuffs, salt-meat, and
even salt-fish, had to be imported

(Hovey 1994).



In an attempt to promote settlement and

the establishment of plantations on St.

Croix, settlers were granted seven-year

tax exemptions. Even with incentives,
establishing a sugar estate was expensive,
requiring enormous investments that could
either pay off handsomely or end disastrously.
The estimated cost for establishing an estate at
the beginning of the Danish era was roughly
17,000 rigsdalers value current (v.c.). By

1770 this cost had risen to between 50,000
and 70,000 rigsdalers v.c. (Lewisohn 1963).
The earliest estate houses were simple and
modest, constructed of wood. It was not until
after the 1750s when many of the grand estate
houses — known locally as great houses —
were constructed.

Sugar agriculture became the lifeblood of

the Danish colony, gaining dominance on St.
Croix in the second half of the 18th century.
By the early 19th century, cotton had lost
much of its economic and social significance.
Between 1750 and 1767, 33 cotton plantations
converted to sugar agriculture, and by 1815
cotton estates had virtually disappeared

from the island. Until 1754, the colony

was controlled by the Danish West India

and Guinea Company, who maintained a
monopoly requiring planters to sell their
sugar to them, and no one else. The island’s
“Golden Age” (1754-1815) began when

the Danish Crown purchased the shares

of the company, taking over its debts and
implementing a free trade policy. Large
numbers of settlers arrived, especially from
neighboring English islands. In 1764, there
were 64 sugar works on the island. At its peak
in 1796, there were 114 windmills and 44
animal mills on the island. In 1803, there were
181 sugar estates. In 1755, 1.5 million pounds
of sugar were being produced on St. Croix.
By contrast, nearly 17 million pounds were
being produced by 1770. At its peak in 1812,
Crucian estates were producing 46 million
pounds of sugar annually (Westergaard 1917).

This output was extremely dependent upon
the labor of enslaved Africans. In 1803, the
population of the island was roughly 30,000,
of which some 26,000 were slaves engaged

in planting and processing sugar cane. St.
Croix was an important node in the triangular
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network that connected Europe, Africa, and
the Caribbean through the trade of human
cargo, sugar, and rum, with Christiansted
serving as the administrative center of
Denmark’s West Indian colonies. The peak
of Christiansted’s maritime trade coincided
with the height of sugar cane cultivation.
During the second half of the 18th century,
approximately 1,500 vessels on average
entered and exited Christiansted harbor
annually (Island Resources Foundation 1988).

Typical Physical Layout of Sugar
Plantations. Typical sugar estates from the
“Golden Age” consisted of a main house,
servants quarters (to support the main
house), cisterns, a cook house, kitchen
garden, an overseer’s house, slave village and
associated buildings and areas (e.g., hospital,
provision grounds, cemetery), a windmill or
animal mill (or both), and the buildings of
the factory area (e.g., boiling house, storage
houses, and a distillery) (Figure 7).

Well towers, or water pumping mills, used
water funneled through a channel to drive
cane mills. Most estates had a well tower.
According to David Hayes, an archeologist
living on St. Croix, an inventory conducted
in 1970 found that there were only about 50
well towers left on St. Croix (David Hayes,
personal communication, 2008). There may
have also been a lime kiln and often these
properties contained family cemeteries.

On each of these estates, roughly a quarter

to a third of the lands were used for living
space, pasture, and timber. To a large degree
sugar estates were self-sufficient communities,
where many items necessary for the estate’s
operations were produced.

Types of Mills. Mills were required to grind
cane and extract the juice that would be
refined into sugar. Animal mills were the first
mills on St. Croix. These mills consisted of a
round shed surrounded by an earthen or low
stone wall, which housed grinding machinery.
Animals would be harnessed to a pole
attached to the center shaft. By the middle

of the 18th century, however, windmills
were being erected across the island. These
windmills were of the Dutch style, in which
the dome and sails could be turned directly
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into the wind. Speed was regulated by using
wood shutters or louvers in portions of the
sail, in lieu of canvas.

During the “Golden Age” of sugar it was
common for estates to contain both a
windmill and an animal mill — the animal mill
having been constructed earlier and retained
as a backup for windless days (Lewisohn
1970). Historic maps indicate that, at least for
a time, this was the case at Estate Grange.
Mills driven by steam were expensive.
Although they were available early in the 19th
century, they did not gain popularity on St.
Croix until after emancipation in1848.

Varying Levels of Success. Caribbean sugar
estates bring to mind images of grand estates,
with owners’ families removed from the sweat
and labor required to preserve their lifestyle.
While some landowners did become quite
wealthy, they were subject to high insurance
rates, debts, and mortgages. Additionally,

they faced the constant threat of droughts,
hurricanes, and other natural disasters that
could wipe out entire crops. Early success and
quick profits often vanished (Lewisohn 1963).
A number of sugar estates never produced
great wealth.

The island’s prosperity began to slow with the
cessation of Denmark’s participation in the
Atlantic slave trade in 1792. Around this time,
competing beet sugar prices caused a sharp
decline in the profitability of cultivating sugar
cane. In the first half of the 19th century the
price of sugar declined, resulting in decreased
harvests and numerous foreclosures. Between
1800 and 1850, the sugar harvest on St. Croix
was reduced by one-third. From 1829 to 1836,
the state wrote off much of the debt and took
possession of many properties, making them
Royally Leased Estates.

By 1847, there were only 132 private estates
remaining. Following emancipation in July,
1848, the enslaved labor that supported the
estate system disappeared.

In 1877, in response to a severe drought that
further limited cane production, a centralized
sugar factory, the Danish West Indies
Corporation, was established in Christiansted
to provide economic assistance. Cane was
taken to one of five pressing stations across
the island. When additional hurricanes and
droughts struck the island in the late 19th and
early 20th centuries, St. Croix’s economy fell
into decline.
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Figure 7. Historic representation of a typical sugar estate
(Map courtesy of P.L. Oxholm, Royal Library, Copenhagen; key typed for clarity by National Park Service)
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Estate Grange in Context. Estate Grange was
a fairly typical, modest Crucian sugar estate
and its history appears to follow a standard
pattern of success and decline. One of the
earliest estates on the island, it was established
in 1738, toward the beginning of the Danish
era during the rule of the Danish West India
and Guinea Company. The first house built

by James and Ann Lytton was likely modest,
perhaps a simple wood, stone, or stone and
wood structure, with a separate kitchen and
servants’ quarters. At the time, the estate also
contained a small slave village of wattle and
daub huts.

With increasing success, the Lyttons built

a larger home around 1761. This home
survives today, although it was modified in
the early 20th century. By 1778, the property
featured both an animal mill and a windmill.
Eventually the animal mill was replaced or
ceased to be used. Foundations or other
remnants of these mills may be present. In
time, individual slave huts were replaced with
stone and stone rubble row houses; ruins

of some of these stone houses survive. In
connection with declining sugar prices and
other troubles described above, Estate Grange
became a Royally Leased Estate in 1835, and
was eventually worked in combination with
nearby estates. Estate Grange’s history and
resources are described in more detail below.

DESCRIPTION OF THE STUDY SITES

This special resource study addresses four
properties on St. Croix. These include

Estate Grange, a historic sugar estate

located approximately 1.5 miles outside of
Christiansted, and three properties within the
Christiansted urban area. The three urban
properties include two sites where Hamilton
lived with his mother and brother and the
former location of the Beekman and Cruger
store and warehouse, where Hamilton worked
for seven years as a youth.

« Estate Grange (also known as Number 9,
Company Quarter — a historic sugar cane
estate)

+ Lot 34, Company Street (once the site of a
residence in which the family lived)
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+ Lot 23, Company Street (location of a
temporary home)

+ Lots 7-8, King Street (former location of
Beekman and Cruger)

The following section is based on the
information available to date. Following the
acquisition of the Virgin Islands by the United
States in 1917, many of the archival records
regarding ownership and construction
periods were taken to Copenhagen, Denmark,
and housed in the Danish Royal Archives
resulting in gaps of information. The St. Croix
Landmarks Society Research Library and
Archives at Whim Plantation has copies of
census records from 1841 to the 1930s and
numerous statistical records such as landlists,
matricals, tax records, and slave lists, in
addition to historic maps.

All information used in this section was
gathered and summarized from the following
sources: Brookhiser 2000; Chernow 2004;
Cissel 2004, 2007; Dahl and de Fine Licht 2004;
Flexner 1978; Hatchett 1859, 1863; Larson
1952; Colby Charts; and the Office of the
Recorder of Deeds.

Estate Grange

History of the Property. The first record

of the 150-acre estate, Number 9 Company
Quarter, dates to May 24, 1738. James Lytton
and his wife Ann (Alexander Hamilton’s
maternal aunt) are described as purchasing
the lot for 300 rigsdalers. It is not clear when
Lytton put his land into cultivation; it is
possible that he harvested timber from the
property for several years (Hopkins 1987).
In 1751, the Lyttons are listed with 28 slaves,
and from 1755 through 1758, Lytton is listed
with a wife and two children. According to

a 1754 map of the island, there is an animal
mill (haste molle) on the property, south of
the intermittent stream or “gut” that runs
east-west through the property. By 1761,

the original house was either replaced or
substantially altered. Today the main house
bears a cornerstone stating “De Anna / Anno
1761” (Figure 8), translation Year 1761.
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Figure 8. Main house cornerstone

In December, 1764, the Lyttons sold the
property to Nicholas Tuite, and by 1766 the
property is listed with John Dann, who was
perhaps a tenant. The house and land are not
referred to as “The Grange” until 1769 (Cissel
2007). To date, our best source of information
regarding the layout of the plantation during
the late 18th century is a 1778 map, illustrated
by Peter Lotharius Oxholm, which includes
the property. This map depicts both a
windmill and an animal mill, the main house
perched atop a prominent hilltop, a slave
village of modest dwellings, and a network of
rectangular fields.

Robert Tuite is listed as the owner from 1774
to 1777 and in 1784, but by 1797 the property
was listed to Henry Seeton and his wife. It is
possible Seeton was a property manager for
Tuite who owned 65 slaves working 6,000
acres. The 1799 Oxholm map of the island
depicts a windmill (vind mélle), but not an
animal mill, suggesting that the animal mill
had been replaced by then.

There are some discrepancies between
historic maps and documentation of
ownership in the 18th century. According to
the 1754 map of St. Croix by Beck, the name
Thomas Lillie is recorded on this lot. On a
colored, updated 1767 version of the Beck
map, Number 9 is listed with the name Roger
Ferrall. It is possible these were errors in the
transcription of information to the map, or
that they were actually managers acting on
behalf of the owners.

In 1816, the 150-acre property is listed with
103 slaves, 99 acres in sugar cane cultivation,
and 51 acres in other cultivation. On July 13,
1819, Chamberlain R. Tuite transferred the
property to Count Charles McCarthy. By
April 11, 1835, however, Estate Grange was
sold at auction to the Royal Loan Commission
(mortgage holder). It appears that at this time
Estate Grange was a Royally Leased Estate
(Kongelige Forpagtede Plantager). In 1838,
Company Quarter #22a was added to Estate
Grange. This increased the property to 225
acres; it was cultivated alongside the nearby
estates, Work and Rest (465 acres), and
Humbug (Hambug) and Retreat (310 acres).
A total of 90 slaves were listed as workers

on the combined 1,000 acres. In 1862, 364
acres were in sugar cultivation among these
estates. By 1863, Estate Grange is again listed
at 150 acres with one domestic servant, 30
first class field laborers, 15 second class, 15
third class, 6 non-field laborers, and 3 second
class workers. Estates Humbug and Retreat
continued to be cultivated with Estate Grange
and Work and Rest until 1884, after which
they were parceled out (in 1883), along with
332 acres of Estate Work and Rest. Between
1880 and 1889, only 294 acres were in sugar
cultivation.

In 1895, the Danish government began using
Estate Grange as a botanical experiment
station. Here they grew trees such as lignum
vitae, mahogany, and divi divi which were to
be used for reforestation efforts across the
island and were available for purchase by
land owners. Experiments were conducted
on several kinds of plants the government
was considering for agricultural purposes,
including vanilla. During an 1886 yellow
fever epidemic, the house was used as a
convalescent home for those removed from
the barracks in Christiansted. According to

a draft national register nomination form
completed in 1977, the soldiers who died here
were buried on the property (Taylor).

In 1881, the estate was controlled by the State
Treasury. It was transferred to the St. Croix
Sukker Fabrik A.S. in 1905 and then to the St.
Croix Sugar Factory in 1922 (also known as
the West India Sugar Factory). In December,
1928, following a severe hurricane, the estate



was sold to the Armstrong family. The estate
then passed between various members of the
Armstrong family until 1969, when Leonard
A. Burt and Malcolm Kenneth Armstrong
were appointed Trustees of the estate. In 1973,
John David Merwin, Esquire, was appointed
Trustee of the M.K. Armstrong Trust and the
MacKenzie Educational Trust. In 1980, title
was vested in John D. Merwin, Trustee for the
M.K. Armstrong Trust, and his duly qualified
successor trustee or trustees.

Primary Resources. There remain several
questions regarding the chronological
development of the property and its extant
resources. Some of these questions include the
nature and extent of alterations to the main
house in 1761 and after the Armstrongs took
possession in 1928 (and during other times);
the original use and location of the overseer’s
house; the potential existence of onsite
additional slave village ruins or the ruins of the
estate’s industrial buildings; and the location
of the Lytton family cemetery which would
include the grave of Rachel Faucett Lavien.

Architecture of the Main House — Both the
interior and the exterior of the main house
have experienced changes, but the structure
retains several characteristics typical of a late
18th and early 19th century house (Figures 9
and 10). tis a two-story (ground floor, upper
floor), stone masonry, stone rubble, and brick
structure, with a pyramidal, low-pitched
hipped roof concealed by a low brick parapet
(Figure 11).

Figure 9. Main house, south elevation
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Figure 10. Main house, east elevation

In comparison to more ornate examples, there
is little in the way of exterior ornamentation.
For example, the house features a simply
detailed cornice and flat lintels above the
second floor bays. There is also a string or
belt course between the lower and upper
floors. These elements reflect a restrained
Neoclassical or Greek Revival style that was
gaining popularity in Europe in the second
half of the 18th century.

Figure 11. Main house, detail of east elevation

Along the eastern elevation there are five bays
on the lower floor and eight on the upper,
one of which is full length. On the southern
elevation there are three bays on the lower
floor and four on the upper (with one full
length bay). The exterior walls of the ground
floor are arcaded with coral block, stone, and
yellow brick reinforcement at the bays. They
may have originally been full length openings
that were later partially bricked in and
converted to windows (Figure 12).
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Figure 12. Later window addition

The building may have originally been
roughly square, measuring approximately

45 by 45 feet (14 meters by 14 meters), with

a hipped roof that encompassed at least one
gallery on the west side of the building. The
placement of a gallery, porch, or verandah on
the western side of residential buildings was a
common 18th century practice.

Following the 1928 hurricane, the Armstrong
family enclosed the western gallery,
converting it into a pantry, dining room, and
primary entrance and staircase (Figure 13).
Aerial photographs of the house illustrate

that an addition was built on the north side
of the structure, measuring roughly 23 feet
by 36 feet (7 meters by 11 meters). A draft
national register nomination form states that
the Armstrong family built this two-room
addition after they purchased the property in
1928 (Taylor 1977).

This (northern) addition has resulted in the
uneven spacing of windows on both levels

of the eastern facade, and the misalignment
of the windows and “door” (or full length
bay) on the east side with the five-course
brick parapet along the structure’s roof

(see Figure 11). This uneven spacing and
lack of alignment does not conform to the
symmetrical Baroque and Neoclassical styles
of the mid to late 18th century. The brick
parapet, which is now centered along the
entire eastern elevation — including the 1928
northern addition — must have been added
(or reworked) after the northern addition was
in place.

Another addition is evident from aerial
photographs. This addition is located on the
west side of the building, just north of the
enclosed gallery/converted dining room,
which now serves as a kitchen. It measures
roughly 19 feet by 16 feet (6 meters by 5
meters). The windows in the parlor do not
match either the original or addition windows
of the bedrooms, and they do not encompass
the entire bay as they do in the bedrooms
(Figure 14).

Figure 13. Dining room in the enclosed western gallery on left, entrance staircase on right




Figure 14. From top to bottom, parlor windows
and bedroom windows

The location of the original entrance to the
main house is unknown. On the second floor
there are two full-length bays that open to
the air, one along the eastern wall and one
along the southern wall (refer to Figures 9,
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10, and 11). It is possible that there could
have been an upper gallery that extended
from the house and wrapped either partially
or completely around the building, allowing
these bays to serve as doors.

A gallery along the east side of the building
could have been covered with an abat-vent
style roof (a flat roof that extends from the
facade).

However, the hipped roof as it exists today
could not have covered or incorporated

such a gallery, as it did on the west side of
the building, potentially arguing against the
presence of a gallery on either the south

or east sides of the house. Preliminary
investigation suggests that originally the
main entrance may have been located on the
eastern elevation rather than the southern, as
it is today. If so, this facade would likely have
presented a more conventional symmetrical
appearance before the north addition was
constructed. The (second story) bay on this
wall could perhaps have been accessed by a
“welcoming arms” entrance staircase that, for
whatever reason, was destroyed. If such an
entry did exist, archeology could potentially
locate any buried foundations for original
entrance stairs or gallery supports.

According to the information sheet provided
during a tour of the house, the main room

on the ground floor was the original dining
room, which was a common practice in
“olden times.” If the original openings were
actually doors that opened to the outside, the
downstairs could have served as a separate
dining room. However, common practice

for two-storied planter’s houses during the
18th century was for the ground floor to

be used for storage (as a cellar) and upper
floors as living space where cooling breezes
could be enjoyed. Generally, only the largest
houses had living quarters on both levels

and separate buildings for storage. As stated
previously, it is also known that the Armstrong
family enclosed the cellar for the purposes of
converting it to an apartment (Cissel 2007).
The rooms downstairs are not finished; the
walls are not plastered or lime washed but
exposed coral block, stone, and brick (Figure
15). According to the (incomplete) draft
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national register nomination form, the cellar
was plastered but this plaster was removed
during the 1928 renovations.

Figure 15. Cellar with unplastered walls

A stone and rubble masonry cistern is

located just west of the main house. Upon
close examination it was apparent that

this structure was originally a small square
building with windows and doors, which were
bricked in during its conversion to a cistern. It
is possible that this building was the original
cookhouse (Figure 16).

Figure 16. Building converted into a cistern

Architecture of the Overseer’s House — On
many 18th and 19th century plantations the
overseer’s house is typically located between
the planter’s house and the slave village. At
Estate Grange, the building known as the
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overseer’s house is located just 59 feet (18
meters) south and west of the main house.
This building is roughly 558 feet (170 meters)
northwest of the slave village. It is a two-story
structure that sits on a slope, with only the
upper floor observed from the eastern facade
with a lower or “basement” floor accessible
from the western, southern, and northern
sides (Figure 17).

The house is built of stone and stone rubble
masonry, with a ridge hipped roof. On the
eastern facade the ground floor appears to

be raised off the ground by about 3 feet. This
structure has been modified, with the possible
use of Portland cement to mud around
replacement windows and to fill in other bays.
It also appears that the windows on the front
(eastern fagade) of the building may have
originally been taller and wider, and may have
served as doors, while one bay was completely
filled in (Figure 17).

It appears that an addition roughly 10 feet
long by 10 feet wide (3 meters by 3 meters)
was built on the north side of this structure
at an unknown time; this would make the
original structure roughly 21 feet by 41 feet
(6.5 meters by 12.5 meters). It also appears
that on the north wall of the original building
a door or full-length bay was replaced by a
small window (Figure 17).

The original date of construction for the
building is unknown. The close proximity

of this structure to both the main house and
the possible original cook house, and